UNITED
NATIONS CAT

Di str.
GENERAL

Convention against Torture
and Other Cruel, Inhuman

or Degrading Treatment ?AI,LSI ff;g?ss
or Punishment

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE AGAI NST TORTURE
Ei ght eent h sessi on
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE FI RST PART (PUBLIC)* OF THE 288t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Thursday, 1 May 1997, at 3 p.m

Chai rman: M. DI PANDA MOUELLE

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 19 OF THE
CONVENTI ON (conti nued)

Third periodic report of Denmark (conti nued)

*  The summary record of the second part (closed) of the meeting appears
as docunent CAT/ C/ SR. 288/ Add. 1

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 97- 16344 (E)



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 19 OF THE
CONVENTI ON (agenda item 4) (continued)

Third periodic report of Denmark (CAT/ C/ 34/ Add.3) (continued)

1. At the invitation of the Chairman, M. Bruun, M. Faerkel
M. Frederiksen, M. Kjglbro, M. Apostoli, M. Troldborg, M. Cohn and
Ms. Skouenborg (Denmark) resuned places at the Committee table.

2. M. BRUUN (Denmark) said that, even though the Convention had not been

i ncorporated into Danish national |egislation as such, existing |aws nore than
adequately covered every aspect of the Convention and it could be invoked
before the courts.

3. Despite the fact that Denmark’s Criminal Code did not include torture as
a specific offence, any action which could be defined as torture under

article 1 of the Convention would be punishable in a court of law. The

requi rement of a definition of torture in the interests of keeping statistics
on cases of such treatnent could be net, inter alia, by nonitoring the nunber
of conmpl ai nts agai nst the police and | ooking at each case to see whether the
alleged ill-treatnent could be classified as torture. The Committee’s
concerns and argunments woul d be passed on to the Danish authorities for their
consi derati on.

4. Ms. SKOUENBORG ( Denmar k) expl ai ned that the regul ati ons governi ng asyl um
were based on the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, the only
di fference being that they afforded w der protection. Asylumcould be granted
on the basis of article 1. A of the Convention, in which case the person would
be granted what was known as Convention status, or on the basis of the Aliens
Act, section 172 of which provided for de facto refugee status.

5. Section 31 of the Act, which had been nmentioned by nenbers of the
Committee, was al so based on the Convention relating to the Status of
Refugees. The provisions of section 31 should be | ooked at not in isolation
but as part of the system governing asylum and refugee status. A person
threatened with expul sion who feared that he might be tortured on return to
his country of origin could invoke that section either during asylum
proceedi ngs or |ater on, when the case would be referred to the Refugee Board
for aruling. |In cases where a person did not neet the requirements for a
residence permt, but information concerning a risk of torture if he were to
return hone canme to light after the conpetent authorities had rejected the
application, proceedings could be reopened.

6. M. BRUUN (Denmark) said that the Algerian citizen nentioned by the
Conmittee had ultimtely been sent back to his country with his famly. The
Ref ugee Board had considered the case on two occasions and could find no
reason to believe that the applicant would be in any danger if he returned
hone.

7. The Chechen asyl um seekers had been granted | eave to stay in Denmark on
humani t ari an grounds because they were in poor health.



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 3

8. Ms. APOSTOLI (Dennark) said that the rules on remand in custody in
solitary confinenent were set forth in the Administration of Justice Act
(Retsplejeloven). Detention in solitary confinenment was decided by the court,
could not be extended by nore than four weeks at a time and was all owed only
for a period of eight consecutive weeks. That rule did not apply if the
charge carried a sentence of six years or nore. The court had to specify why
a person should be kept in solitary confinenment and i nformthe detainee of his
right to appeal. The prisoner could conmplain to the prison governor, the
Department of Prisons and Probation or the Onbudsman.

9. A special statute on the enforcenent of sentences was being prepared in
the Standing Committee on the Criminal Code. The aimof the statute was to
regul ate the | egal position of persons given a custodial sentence, including
in the case of disciplinary punishnment and solitary confinenment. Specia
appeal procedures in cases of solitary confinenment were being considered by
the Standing Committee on Administration of Crimnal Justice in the light of a
research project and reports on how such punishnment affected a person’s

physi cal and nental state.

10. The Adm ni stration of Justice Act provided for conpensation for undue
remand in custody in solitary confinement. M. Wssum whose case had been
reported on the Cable News Network (CNN), had received conpensation in
February 1997.

11. Ms. COHN (Denmark) said that inmates on renand were housed in ordinary,
furnished cells in which they were allowed to keep their own bel ongi ngs.
Security cells had only a bed and facilities for restraining a prisoner and
observation cells had furniture that was fixed to the floor to prevent any
unfortunate incidents. Special cells that were used as puni shment cells, were
like ordinary cells.

12. Prisoners were kept only for short periods in observation or security
cells. A guard had to be present at all times in cases where it had been
necessary to restrain a prisoner

13. Puni shment was decided by the prison admnistration. Prisoners in
solitary confinement could have their belongings with them could read in
their cells or be given work to occupy their tinme. In Copenhagen, they al so

had access to teachers, chaplains and social workers, for exanple, to ensure
that their physical and nmental welfare did not suffer. They had exercise

peri ods and access to a range of leisure facilities. Conditions and services
varied fromprison to prison. Prison staff were given full training in howto
deal with prisoners in solitary confinenment and establish contact with them

14. Wor k was conpul sory for convicted prisoners, but persons on remand coul d
choose whet her they wanted to work or not. Copenhagen conplied fully with the
I nternational Labour Organization Forced Labour Conventi on

15. M. BRUUN (Denmark) said that prison inmates could | odge a conpl ai nt
with the prison authorities and, as a last resort, with the Orbudsman, whose
powers were relatively limted in legal terms, but fornmidable in terms of



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 4

nmoral authority. Although he could not change a decision or practice, his
status as Parlianent's watchdog agai nst adm nistrative abuses neant that his
criticismand recommendati ons were taken very seriously.

16. Ms. TROLDBORG (Denmark) said that the Mnistry of Justice had no plans
to make substantial changes in the regulations relating to access of detained
persons to a | awer. A person who obtained | egal assistance and was
subsequently convicted continued to be liable for the |lawer's fees, but
ability to pay was certainly not a prerequisite for obtaining | ega
assi st ance.

17. Each regi onal police conplaints board was nade up of a |lawer and two

| aymen, who were appointed by the Mnistry of Justice on the basis of
recommendati ons by the General Council of Lawyers in the case of the | awer
appoi ntee and by the counties and nunicipalities in the case of the two

| aymen. The boards continuously nonitored the processing of conplaints

agai nst police personnel by the District Public Prosecutors. They could issue
statenments on how particular conplaints should be dealt with and appea

agai nst what they viewed as unsatisfactory decisions to the Director of Public
Prosecutions. Decisions could also be appeal ed by the conplainant. According
to the first report by the Director of Public Prosecutions on the handling of
conpl ai nts under the new system 1,013 formal conplaints had been made to the
District Public Prosecutors. O the 526 cases that had al ready been deci ded,
260 concerned police behaviour and 250 all eged crimnal offences commtted by
police personnel. Ten cases had been appealed to the Director of Public
Prosecutions by the police conplaints boards. 1In 36 of the cases of alleged
crimnal offences, the District Public Prosecutors had established that there
were grounds for indictnent. Those cases had not yet been decided. The new
system had led to an overall increase in conplaints, but the statistics were
not really conparabl e inasnuch as the conpl aints boards had not been conpetent
to deal with conplaints involving alleged crinminal offences under the previous
system

18. The use of fixed leg | ocks had been abolished by the Mnistry of Justice
in 1994 in response to reports by Amesty International and the Danish Medica
Legal Counci l

19. In March 1996, the National Conmmi ssioner of Police had requested a

medi cal review and assessnent of police self-defence holds and techniques. A
t eam of physici ans appoi nted by the Dani sh Board of Health had recomended,
inter alia, that truncheons should not be used on the front of a person's
body. The Medical Legal Council, comrenting on the assessment, had stated
that no use of physical force was conmpletely without risk and that tight
handcuffs, particularly in the event of sudden jerks, could damage the nerves
in a prisoner's hands. The National Police Conm ssioner had al so undertaken a
conparative study of handcuffs and of police training in handcuff use in a
nunber of European countries and in Canada and had concl uded that the Danish
police used appropriate and suitably designed handcuffs and that their
training in the use of handcuffs was satisfactory. The Mnister of Justice
had instructed the National Police Conm ssioner to inplement the conclusions
of the two studies, taking into account conments by the Board of Health and

t he Medi cal Legal Council, in a new training manual for the Danish police.



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 5

20. M. BRUUN (Denmark) stressed that fixed |l eg | ocks had been illega
since 1994. Wien the termleg lock was currently used, it referred solely to
a grip used to restrain a person on the ground.

21. There was no perfect solution to the problemof controlling unruly,
hostil e and sonetines violent cromds. Any nmeans used by a police force in
such circunstances was |iable to have undesirabl e consequences. |In the Danish

view, there was a legitimate use for police dogs to control unruly crowds,
provi ded that the principle of proportionality was observed and the dogs were
kept under tight control

22. Ms. TROLDBORG (Denmark) said that a draft new set of regulations on the
use of police dogs contained such provisions as the mandatory warni ng of
crowds of the intention to use dogs, specifications as to |length of |eash,
mandatory notification of the local chief of police of the proposed use of
dogs and the subsequent submi ssion of a report on their use both to the |oca
chief and to the National Conmm ssioner of Police.

23. Wth regard to the representation in the Danish police force of officers
with a different ethnic background, only Danish citizens were allowed to join
the police force and it was felt that it nmight be considered discrimnatory to
inquire into candidates' ethnic origins. However, in view of the inportance
attached by the National Commi ssioner of Police and the Mnistry of Justice to
ensuring that the police force reflected the conposition of Danish society and
to inproving relations between the police force and ethnic mnorities,
statistics had been conpiled at the Danish Police Acadeny in 1996. O 128
new entrants, 7 were of non-Danish ethnic or cultural origin, a ratio of

5.6 per cent. In cooperation with the Board for Ethnic Equality, the Mnistry
of Justice had published a brochure on the police to facilitate the
recruitment of persons of different ethnic origins and, in cooperation with

t he Docunentation and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimnation, a |eaflet for
menbers of ethnic mnorities having sonme form of pernmanent connection to
Denmar k concerning their rights and obligations vis-a-vis the police. In
January 1997, the Copenhagen Conmi ssioner of Police had introduced a new
strategy for relations between the police and ethnic mnorities.

24. Ms. [LIOPOULOS- STRANGAS, referring to paragraph 23 of the report
(CAT/ ¢/ 34/ Add. 3), asked whether the exception fromthe prohibition against
ref oul enent pursuant to section 31 of the Aliens Act in the case of aliens who
presented a risk to national security or an i medi ate danger to other persons
was a restriction on the scope of article 3 of the Convention

25. M. BRUUN (Denmark) said that there were no restrictions on the scope of
the article and that even persons who presented a serious risk to the security
of the State were not expell ed.

26. M. PIKIS, referring to the case of M. Wssumreported on the Cable
News Networ k, asked on what grounds financial conpensation had been paid. Had
the Dani sh authorities acknow edged that the danage to his health had resulted
fromsolitary confinenment? Wre there any other cases of conpensation for



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 6

victinms of solitary confinenent and, if so, what conpensati on had been

awar ded? Such information was of enornmous inportance for assessing the
i mplications of solitary confinenment in the light of article 16 of the

Conventi on.

27. Ms. TROLDBORG (Denmark) said that, pursuant to paragraph 1018 (a),
section 1, and paragraph 1018 (b) of the Administration of Justice Act,
persons arrested or remanded in custody as part of a crimnal procedure had a
right to conpensation for econom ¢ damage, general distress and damage to
their career if no charge was brought or if they were acquitted.

28. M. BURNS said that the fundanmental question was whether M. Wssum had
obt ai ned financial compensati on because, in the view of the Dani sh Government,
his detention had been unlawful fromthe outset or because his detention had
been prima facie |awful, but rendered unl awful by the danmages sustained. A
third possibility was that the conpensation had been paid solely on account of
t he detainee's acquittal

29. Ms. TROLDBORG (Denmark) said that there was no question of unl awful
detention, since the Admi nistration of Justice Act had not been breached. The
police were authorized to detain suspects during an investigation if there
were sound reasons for believing they had been involved in a crine. Any
suspect who was | ater proved innocent must be conpensated.

30. M. PIKIS said that his question whether the Danish authorities had
acknow edged that M. Wssum had suffered physical or mental danage as a
result of solitary confinenent had not been answered.

31. M. BRUUN (Denmark) said that he was unable to give a precise answer
because he was not familiar with the details of the judgenent and a nunber of
factors could have been involved in the decision to award conpensation. He
assured M. Pikis that further information both on the case of M. Wssum and
on the wider inplications of the issue would be provided in due course.

The public part of the neeting was suspended at 4.25 p. m
and resuned at 5.45 p.m

32. The CHAI RMAN i nforned the del egation of Denmark that, in accordance with
the Committee's jurisprudence, M. Sorensen, a Danish citizen, had not
participated in the Commttee's deliberations.

33. Ms. [LIOPOULOS- STRANGAS (Country Rapporteur) read out the Conmmittee's
draft conclusions and recommendati ons on the third periodic report of Denmark
( CAT/ C/ 34/ Add. 3):

“Concl usions and reconmendations of the Conmittee against Torture

| nt r oduction

The Conmittee thanks the Governnment of Denmark for its frank
cooperation, denmonstrated anong other things by its third periodic
report, which was subnmitted on tinme. Not only was the report prepared
in accordance with the general guidelines regarding the form and



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 7

contents of periodic reports to be submtted by States parties under
article 19 of the Convention, but it also contained abundant informtion
which facilitated a constructive dial ogue.

The Conmittee al so thanks the Danish delegation for its frank
replies to the questions raised by nmenbers of the Conmttee.

Positive aspects

The Committee notes with satisfaction the commtnent of the
Governnment of Denmark to the refornms of the judicial systemin
G eenl and.

The Committee al so considers the State party's efforts to ensure
that the composition of the police corps reflects the diversity of the
popul ation to be another very positive aspect. It views as very
i nportant the fact that the subject of 'human rights' appears in the
basic training of the police. The Committee can only wel cone the fact
that the Government grants subsidies to i ndependent, private
organi zations involved with the rehabilitation of torture victins.

Factors and difficulties inpeding the application of the Convention

The Conmittee notes the difficulties of Denmark in incorporating
t he provisions of the Convention into Danish law, given its conm tnent
to the '"dualist' system

Subj ects of concern

The Conmittee is concerned by the fact that there may still be
sonme doubts as to the legal status of the Convention in donmestic |aw,
particularly with regard to the possibility of invoking the Convention
before the Dani sh courts and the conmpetence of the courts to apply its
provi sions ex officio.

The Conmittee is also concerned that Denmark has still not
i ntroduced the offence of torture into its penal system including a
definition of torture in conformity with article 1 of the Convention

The Conmittee is concerned about the institution of solitary
confinenent, particularly a preventive nmeasure during pre-tria
detention, but also as a disciplinary neasure, for exanple, in cases of
repeated refusal to work

The Conmittee expresses its concern about the nethods used by the
Dani sh police both in their treatnment of detainees and during public
denonstrations, for exanple, the use of dogs for crowd control

The Conmittee is further concerned about the real degree of
i ndependence of the mechanisns used to deal with detai nees’ conplaints.



CAT/ C/ SR. 288
page 8

Recomendat i ons

The Committee reconmends that the State party should consi der
i ncorporating the provisions of the Convention into donmestic law, as it
has al ready done for the European Convention on Human Ri ghts.

The Conmittee reiterates the reconmendation it made during
consi deration of the first and second periodic reports of Denmark that
is should incorporate provisions into its donestic |law on the crine of
torture, in conformity with article 1 of the Convention

Except in exceptional circunstances where the safety of persons or
property is involved, the Commttee recomends that the use of solitary
confinenent should be abolished particularly during pre-trial detention
or at least that it should be strictly and specifically regulated by | aw
(maxi mum duration, etc.) and that the possibility of judicial
supervi sion should be introduced.

The Committee reconmends that the State party should reconsider
the nmethods used by police in their treatnent of detainees or during
crowd control

The Committee reconmends that the State party should ensure that
conplaints of ill-treatment | odged by detai nees are handl ed by
i ndependent bodies.”

34. M. BRUUN (Denmark) said his del egation had taken careful note of the
Conmittee's conclusions and recommendati ons and would transmt themto the
Dani sh authorities. He thanked the Commttee for the opportunity to engage in
a useful and constructive dial ogue.

35. The Dani sh Governnment was endeavouring not only to fulfil its
obligations as a party to the Convention against Torture, but also to make an
active contribution to the prevention of torture. The Governnent attached
great inportance to the work of the Rehabilitation and Research Centre for
Torture Victinms and its International Rehabilitation Council for Torture
Victinms and would continue to provide themw th financial and noral support.

It remained conmitted to the preparation of a draft optional protocol to the
Convention which would allow the Cormittee to nmake visits to places of
detention simlar to those carried out by the European Comrittee for the
Prevention of Torture and |Inhuman or Degradi ng Treatnment or Punishnent and
took the view that Governnments would automatically give consent to such visits
by acceding to the optional protocol. H's Governnment wel comed the adoption by
t he Comm ssion on Hunman Rights of a draft resolution on torture

(E/CN. 4/1997/L.51), of which Dennark had been a sponsor and which included
provi sions on corporal punishnment, the responsibility of medical personnel and
the proclamation of 26 June as a United Nations international day in support
of the victinms of torture and the total eradication of torture and the
effective functioning of the Convention against Torture, which had entered
into force on 26 June 1987

36. The CHAI RMAN t hanked the del egati on of Denmark for its full and frank
cooperation with the Comm ttee.

The neeting rose at 6.05 p. m




